BATHURST & ORANGE INTER-DISTRICT CRICKET



2020-21 ANNUAL REPORT

Contents

2020-21 DIRECTORY	3
AFFILIATED CLUBS	3
CHAIRMANS REPORT	4
FINANCIAL REPORT	5
SEASON RESULTS	6
ONE DAY CHAMPIONS	10
FINALS	12
Semi-finals cancelled as rain wreaks havoc with Bathurst pitches	13
Orange City to face St Pat's in grand final after rain-affected win	14
GRAND FINAL SCORECARD	15
Orange City takes out 2020-21 grand final over St Pat's Old Boys	16
AWARDS	18
Russ Gardner named player of the 2020-21 season	18
TEAM OF THE YEAR	20
SEASON STATISTICS	21
ROIDC PREMIERSHIP WINNERS	25

Cover Photo: Orange City celebrating their premiership win

2020-21 DIRECTORY

Committee of Management

Mark Frecklington Chairman

Campbell Graham Deputy Chairman

Brad Broes Secretary

Stephen Cain Liam Dillon Peter Jarick



AFFILIATED CLUBS



Bathurst City



Cavaliers



Centennials Bulls



Centrals



City Colts



CYMS



Rugby Union



CRICKET

Kinross



St Pat's Old Boys



Orange City

CHAIRMANS REPORT



We have just witnessed another fantastic season of BOIDC cricket, and this time with the grand final being played after covid-19 prevented the same last season.

Congratulations to Orange City for winning their second consecutive BOIDC premiership. The Warriors finished second in the regular season to St Pat's Old Boys, but were able to defeat the Saints in the match that that mattered most. It took an unbroken 30 run partnership for the ninth wicket between Troy O'Keeffe and Harry McGregor to get City over the line.

No doubt St Pat's Old Boys would no doubt be buoyed by being named limited over champions, amassing the most points from the one day matches, although would be disappointed with the grand final result. They are proving themselves a force to be

reckoned with and I'd expect them to be pushing hard next season to go one better.

Rugby Union also made some huge strides forward this year and were certainly the form team for most of the season before weather halted their progress in the penultimate round.

Overall we had an ultra competitive season with the battle for top 4 places going to the very last round. I'm sure Cavaliers will be looking to make amends for what would have been a disappointing result by their standards. This all bodes well for another cracking season next year as teams look to improve on this year's results.

Overall this season we made some significant changes after officially forming a new Association for the running of this competition. This Association is there to serve the needs of both the Bathurst District Cricket Association and the Orange District Cricket Association when it comes to organising a joint competition between teams from those two Associations. We have set the BOIDC Association up such that the Committee will always have equal representation from both Bathurst and Orange, meaning that those two Associations will always maintain control.

The new BOIDC Association will allow us to do things better and whilst there are always some teething issues for new organisations, I think you will all start to see the improvements.

I thank this season's BOIDC Committee for their help and efforts. One positive to come out of covid is how we've quickly adapted to holding online meetings, which has helped to improve our management of this Association. The BOIDC Committee has met this way a number of times during the season, something which we wouldn't have done in pre-covid times.

Looking ahead to next season, we've already had conifrmation from O.R.C. that they are keen to return to BOIDC competition next season, so we could be looking at an 11 team competition, which would be the largest BOIDC competition ever. O.R.C. were one of the heavyweights of the competition in it's earlier years, winning 3 premierships and runners up 5 times.

It was good to see all BOIDC teams participating in the ODCA's Royal Hotel Cup T20 competition. That will serve to benefit our area by making that arguably the strongest T20 competition in the region.

It has been an honour to serve as your Chairman this season, and I look forward to another very productive and exciting season for BOIDC in 2021-22.

Mark Frecklington

Chairman

FINANCIAL REPORT

BATHURST and ORANGE IN	TER-DISTRICT CRICKET
FINANCIAL STA	TEMENT
2020/21 SEA	ASON
INCOME	
Startup funds	2,000.00
Club Levies	13,367.50
Scorebooks	80.00
Total Income	15,447.50
EXPENDITUR	RE
Fair Trading	176.70
Umpires Fees	13,570.00
Scorebooks	809.48
Trophies / Awards	-
Total Expenditure	14,556.18
PROFIT / LOSS	891.32
BANK BALANCE	
Account Opened 2/12/20	-
Closing Balance 31/5/21	891.32

SEASON RESULTS

Round 1 - 10 October

St Pat's Old Boys 3/88 (A Brown 31) **def Centennials Bulls 84** (B Aubin 35 H Siegert 3/9 M Fearnley 3/13 M Taylor 3/16) **by 7 wickets** at Bathurst Sportsground



Cavaliers 8/103 (C Laird 26 C Starkey 3/22 M Ripps 2/16 F Rose 2/24) def Centrals 102 (H Britton 5/25 J Thomas 2/8 K Buckley 2/19) by 2 wickets at Riawena Oval

Rugby Union 154 (I Qureshi 31 J Thackray 27 N Shepherd 3/20 J Rasmussen 2/25 G Cumming 2/44) def Kinross 152 (D Hunter 63 M Webster 28 H McIntyre 6/23 J Qureshi 2/29) by 2 runs at Bloomfield Oval

City Colts 1/126 (D Sellers 54 H Shoemark 53*) def Bathurst City 125 (B Orme 71 D Casey 5/21 J Toole 4/26) by 9 wickets at Loco Oval

Orange City 8/201 (L Coyte 51 E Morrish 37 B Weymouth 34 A Smith 3/43 R Daburger 2/20 A Dhillon 2/35) def CYMS 8/190 (D Neil 70 G Bridge 38 T Belmonte 37 B Causer 2/41) by 11 runs at Jack Brabham 2

Round 2 – 17 October

Orange City 9/205 (J Thomas 35 S Grenfell 30 L Coyte 29 B Causer 26 J Toole 2/26 M Stephen 2/42) def City Colts 199 (J Toole 94 D Sellers 39 S Grenfell 5/43 H McGregor 2/39) by 6 runs at Wade Park

Bathurst City 3/162 (M Day 83* J Rudge 38*) **def Centrals 9/161** (M Powell 56 M Willis 3/27 C Moxon 2/35) **by 7 wickets** at Morse Park 1



CYMS 2/192 (R Daburger 80 D Neil 77* G Cumming 2/24) def Kinross 8/191 (W Prowse 74 G Cumming 48 A Smith 4/32 A Dhillon 2/30) by 8 wickets at Riawena Oval



Cavaliers 6/179 (C Laird 52 W Lummis 37* H Pearce 27 T Ryan 3/22) def Centennials Bulls 70 (H Britton 6/33 K Buckley 3/12) by 109 runs at George Park 1

St Pat's Old Boys 2/162 (A Ryan 48* A Brown 43 B Brien 43 J Qureshi 2/25) def Rugby Union 9/158 (I Qureshi 50 J Qureshi 34 B Glasson 33 J Goodsell 4/18) by 8 wickets at Bathurst Sportsground

Round 3 - 24 October

CYMS 3/167 (T Satterthwaite 48* T Belmonte 46 D Neil 39) def Centennials **Bulls 5/166** (B Aubin 66* T Horton 45 A Wilson 3/33) by 7 wickets at Wade Park

City Colts 3/75 (H Shoemark 36* W Prowse 2/27) drew Kinross at Loco Oval

Orange City 3/74 (L Coyte 28 M Black 2/21) drew Cavaliers at Riawena Oval

Rugby Union drew Bathurst City at **Bathurst Sportsground**

St Pat's Old Boys drew Centrals at Morse Park 1



Round 4 – 31 October & 7 November



Cavaliers 228 (K Cook 42 B Ferguson 40 M Corben 38* C Laird 37 W Luelf 25 O Simpson 3/14 C Moxon 3/58 J Coughlan 2/24) def Bathurst City 119 (M Willis 29 C Moxon 29 H Pearce 4/10 K Buckley 3/20) on first innings at Bathurst Sportsground

Centrals 185 (F Rose 59 C Rasmussen 32 N Shepherd 6/44 M Webster 2/23 W Prowse 2/30) **def Kinross 66** (Z Reimer 4/13 F Rose 4/38 D Kennewell 2/13) and 7/161 (C Tink 34 M Webster 31 F Rose 3/36 S Kelly 2/43) on first innings at Wade Park

City Colts 296 (R Gardner 80 M Stephen 50* J Toole 47 D Giorgio 38 T Horton 2/47 K Aubin 2/55 K Toole 2/66) drew Centennials Bulls 6/234 (B Aubin 123* E Muller 44* K Aubin 26 D Henderson 2/31 D Casey 2/62) at Loco Oval

Orange City 6/223 (L Coyte 90* B Weymouth 86 H McIntyre 3/56) def Rugby Union 220 (J Qureshi 93 R Peacock 31 E Morrish 8/56) on first innings at Bloomfield Oval

St Pat's Old Boys 5/299(dec) (B Brien 92 C Slattery 75 D Clayton 37 C Brien 33* A Dhillon 2/51) def CYMS 109 (H West 40 J Goodsell 5/27 M Taylor 3/37) and 2/98 (T Satterthwaite 43 R Daburger 33*) on first innings at Riawena Oval

Round 5 – 14 & 21 November

Orange City 5/132 (A Gordon 55* L Coyte 40 T Lynch 2/33) def Bathurst City 131 (T Lynch 36 J Urza 29 H McGregor 4/21 S Grenfell 2/23) on first innings at George Park 1

City Colts 9/330(dec) (R Gardner 156* C

Berry 79 D Sellers 30 E Dodds 4/80 Z Reimer 4/95) def Centrals 220 (K Gander 43 J Barrow 42 C Rasmussen 41 G Judge 37 T Murray 3/33 D Casey 3/56 D Henderson 2/48) on first innings at Wade Park



Cavaliers 6/288(dec) (M Corben 80 W Lummis 63* C Laird 57 B Ferguson 28 H Le Lievre 4/66) def CYMS 207 (T Belmonte 42 A Dhillon 37 T Satterthwaite 30 R Daburger 27 M Maybin 3/23 K Buckley 3/48 H Middleton 2/35) on first innings at Riawena Oval

St Pat's Old Boys 6/207(dec) (A Parsons 43 J Willcox 42* A Brown 34 C Brien 34 A Tancred 2/35 M Webster 2/48) **def Kinross 86** (M Fearnley 6/9 J Goodsell 2/24) **on first innings** at Morse Park 1

Rugby Union 5/193 (D Glasson 88* S Macpherson 42 T Horton 4/79) def Centennials Bulls 8/191(dec) (B Aubin 48 K Aubin 43 S Macpherson 2/20 J Thackray 2/29 H McIntyre 2/34) on first innings at Bathurst Sportsground

Round 6 – 28 November & 5 December

Cavaliers 2/144(dec) (B Ferguson 57 K Cook 42* W Luelf 35) def Kinross 56 (C Greer 8/17 H Britton 2/21) and 3/65 (W Prowse 27*) on first innings at Kinross Main Oval



Rugby Union 227 (R Peacock 100 B Glasson 72 M Ripps 4/40 D Kennewell 2/27 J Barrow 2/30) drew Centrals 7/176 (F Rose 78 K Gander 36 C Rasmussen 30 J Thackray 3/33 H McIntyre 2/51 J Ruzgas 2/68) at Bathurst Sportsground

Centennials Bulls 185 (T Horton 49 M Hutchinson 39 D Bryant 34 J Urza 4/45 C Moxon 3/41 J Coughlan 2/81) def Bathurst City 184 (M Day 74 J Coughlan 44 M Hutchinson 3/24 P McCleary 2/15 D Bryant 2/31) and 0/11 on first innings at Morse Park 1

City Colts 235 (D Casey 103 R Gardner 72 H Le Lievre 3/37 A Wilson 3/48 A Dhillon 2/31) def CYMS 102 (T Satterthwaite 35 A Daymond 4/27 D Casey 3/21) and 5/197 (T Belmonte 49 H Le Lievre 43* A Smith 32* T Murray 2/26 A Daymond 2/37) on first innings at Loco Oval

Orange City 9/253(dec) (L Coyte 52 B Causer 45 B Schofield 31 D Boundy 29 B Weymouth 27 M Taylor 3/38 C Slattery 2/41) drew St Pat's Old Boys 3/45 (A Rutledge 3/9) at Wade Park

Round 7 - 12 & 19 December

CYMS 245 (J Cale 61 D Neil 45 T Belmonte 32 R Daburger 28 E Dodds 7/72) def Centrals 185 (K Gander 59 R Dray 28 A Wilson 3/9 H Le Lievre 3/35 T West 2/36) on first innings at Bloomfield Oval

Bathurst City 6/204(dec) (C Townsend 65* T Lynch 28 M Day 25 M Webster 2/44 N Shepherd 2/57) def Kinross 100 (M Webster 30 C Moxon 7/25 J Coughlan 2/31) and 85 (L Hunter 28 J Urza 6/20 C Moxon 2/16 C Townsend 2/18) outright at Kinross Main Oval



St Pat's Old Boys 297 (C Slattery 117 B Brien 75 A Brown 46 W Sellers 5/68 T Murray 2/54) **drew City Colts 1/124** (D Sellers 52* J Toole 36* H Shoemark 28) at Bathurst Sportsground

Rugby Union 367 (S Macpherson 76 R Peacock 66 B Glasson 52 J Thackray 42 P Raveneau 25 M Black 6/125 C Greer 2/51 K Buckley 2/97) **def Cavaliers 182** (M Corben 83 J Thackray 6/61 J Ruzgas 3/66) **on first innings** at Wade Park

Orange City 7/259(dec) (B Schofield 104 D Boundy 51 S Churchill 44 E Morrish 32) def Centennials Bulls 170 (K Aubin 52 J Seib 3/30) on first innings at Riawena Oval

Round 8 – 9 January

Rugby Union 5/220 (R Peacock 65 I Qureshi 42 O Newton 31 D Henderson 2/27) def City Colts 211 (D Casey 62* R Gardner 61 H Shoemark 38 H McIntyre 3/40 J Ruzgas 2/43 E Jones 2/49) by 9 runs at Loco Oval

Centennials Bulls 7/266 (D Bryant 60 M Hutchinson 51* B Aubin 32 W Prowse 2/60) **def Kinross 158** (A Staniforth 52 D Bryant 3/17 P McCleary 3/30 M Hutchinson 2/10) **by 108 runs** at Bathurst Sportsground



St Pat's Old Boys 4/180 (B Brien 66 A Brown 33 C Slattery 26* M Black 2/47) def Cavaliers 178 (B Ferguson 51 H Middleton 39 M Corben 31 H Parsons 4/47 C Slattery 3/24 J Goodsell 2/22) by 6 wickets at Morse Park 1

Orange City 3/239 (B Weymouth 129* L Coyte 37 S Grenfell 33*) def Centrals 197 (M Powell 51 C Rasmussen 41 E Morrish 3/25 H McGregor 3/38 J Seib 2/35) by 42 runs at Wade Park

Bathurst City 4/220 (J Coughlan 93 T Lynch 70) **def CYMS 219** (T Satterthwaite 78 J Cale 51 M Winslade 36 T Lynch 4/20 B Orme 2/31 M Tobin 2/41 J Urza 2/49) **by 6 wickets** at George Park 1

Round 9 – 16 January

Orange City 8/224 (M Curtale 48 L Coyte 39 D Boundy 37 G Cumming 4/31 M Webster 3/40) **def Kinross 120** (C Tink 30 G Cumming 27 A Rutledge 4/8 B Johnson 4/30) **by 104 runs** at Riawena Oval

St Pat's Old Boys 7/147 (C Brien 54 A Brown 35 O Simpson 3/16 J Hutchings 2/18) def Bathurst City 7/146 (J Rudge 46* M Day 35 M Taylor 3/32) by 3 wickets at Bathurst Sportsground

City Colts 6/190 (R Gardner 76 D Sellers 56 H Pearce 2/18 H Britton 2/39) def Cavaliers 7/186 (K Cook 43 H Pearce 41 H Shoemark 2/14 D Rogerson 2/43) by 4 wickets at Loco Oval

Rugby Union 5/269 (S Macpherson 89 I Qureshi 69 J Qureshi 38* R Daburger 2/23 H Le Lievre 2/48) def CYMS 211 (J Cale 69 T West 33 E Jones 3/74 J Qureshi 2/20 H McIntyre 2/46) by 58 runs at Wade Park

Centrals 169 (F Rose 47 C Rasmussen 31 M Powell 27 M Hutchinson 4/25 P McCleary 2/12 T Horton 2/34) def Centennials Bulls 151 (K Toole 31 T Horton 30 B Aubin 25 Z Reimer 3/24 E Dodds 3/41 C Starkey 2/30) by 18 runs at Bloomfield Oval



Round 10 – 23 January

St Pat's Old Boys 2/138 (B Cant 94 A Brown 32 A Dhillon 2/6) def CYMS 136 (D Neil 47 M Taylor 4/20 A Parsons 3/27 C Slattery 2/15) by 8 wickets at Morse Park 1

Centrals 7/94 (G Cumming 3/17 S Crisp 2/20) def Kinross 93 (M Webster 29 E Dodds 3/15 F Rose 2/14 Z Reimer 2/17) by 3 wickets at Kinross Main Oval

Cavaliers 196 (B Ferguson 80 H Pearce 37 C Laird 29 O Simpson 4/45 T Lynch 2/19 M Tobin 2/41) def Bathurst City 8/193 (J Coughlan 99 K Buckley 3/35 M Maybin 2/38) by 3 runs at Wade Park

Centennials Bulls 4/152 (K Toole 68 K Aubin 29 W Sellers 2/31) **def City Colts 148** (R Gardner 76* Z Newham 4/13 P McCleary 2/27 M Hutchinson 2/28) **by 6 wickets** at Bathurst Sportsground

Rugby Union 5/162 (R Peacock 61 P Tonkin 46 H McGregor 2/38) **def Orange City 5/160** (B Weymouth 78* S Grenfell 27 S Macpherson 2/40) **by 5 wickets** at George Park 1



ONE DAY CHAMPIONS

St Pat's Old Boys were named one day champions after finishing on top of the one day points table.

One Day Points Table

		Pl	W	D	L	Pts	NRR
1	St Pats Old Boys	6	5	1	0	36	1.427
	Rugby Union	6	4	1	1	28	0.640
	Orange City	6	4	1	1	28	0.376
	Cavaliers	6	3	1	2	23	0.556
	City Colts	6	2	1	3	16	0.202
	Bathurst City	6	2	1	3	15	-0.195
	Centrals	6	2	1	3	15	-0.484
	Centennials Bulls	6	2	0	4	14	-0.263
	CYMS	6	2	0	4	12	-0.704
	Kinross	6	0	1	5	3	-1.413

Round 11 – 30 January & 6 February

CYMS 7/114 (H West 30* A Dhillon 28 H McGregor 3/8 B Causer 2/16 B Johnson 2/30) def Orange City 71 (H Le Lievre 5/26 A Wilson 2/24) on first innings at Jack Brabham 2

Bathurst City 212 (C Schubert 79 J Coughlan 44 M Day 29 J Rudge 29 D Rogerson 5/79 H Shoemark 3/34) def City Colts 204 (R Gardner 87 P Hill 27 G Mangan 25 C Moxon 4/91 O Simpson 2/26) on first innings at Bathurst Sportsground



St Pat's Old Boys 7/286(dec) (C Slattery 121 A Brown 102 L Griffith 3/21 Z Newham 2/20) drew Centennials Bulls 2/41 (K Toole 25*) at George Park 1

Rugby Union 8/100(dec) (P Tonkin 22 I Qureshi 20 M Webster 3/23 W Prowse 2/13 G Cumming 2/22) def Kinross 80 (T Kiss 47 H McIntyre 5/10 P Raveneau 3/14) and 1/37 on first innings at Morse Park 1

Cavaliers 7/242(dec) (M Corben 123* W Lummis 37 B Ferguson 33 C Starkey 2/23) drew Centrals 1/20 at Wade Park

Round 12 - 13 & 20 February



CYMS 7/317(dec) (D Neil 100* T Belmonte 79 G Bridge 37 J Sijo 27* N Shepherd 3/83) def Kinross 298 (J Larkin 129 W Prowse 39 J Glasson 31 J French 3/25 A Wilson 3/65 H Le Lievre 2/49) on first innings at Wade Park

Bathurst City 190 (C Townsend 48 M Day 35 J Coughlan 33 M Tobin 25 E Dodds 4/77 Z Reimer 2/20 D Kennewell 2/29 M Burgess 2/31) **and 3/8** (D Kennewell 2/1) **def Centrals 100** (J Coughlan 4/29 C Moxon 3/28) **and 139** (M Powell 35 A Shepherd 29 B Orme 6/44 C Moxon 2/11) **on first innings** at Jack Brabham 2

Centennials Bulls 146 (K Aubin 31 E Ahmad 30 D Bryant 27 M Black 6/45 H Pearce 2/18 M Maybin 2/19) and 2/57 def Cavaliers 112 (H Middleton 38 B Ferguson 28 M Hutchinson 5/56 Z Newham 2/17 KT Toole 2/35) and 6/225(dec) (W Lummis 70 C Laird 65 K Toole 2/40 M Hutchinson 2/46) on first innings at Riawena Oval

Rugby Union 142 (S Macpherson 46 R Peacock 34 M Taylor 5/83 C Slattery 2/16 A Parsons 2/20) def St Pat's Old Boys 139 (B Brien 43 A Ryan 34 M Taylor 27 J Thackray 5/33 J Ruzgas 4/43) on first innings at Bathurst Sportsground

Orange City 188 (S Churchill 60 B Schofield 29 S Grenfell 27 D Henderson 4/57 J Toole 2/34 D Rogerson 2/37) and 112 (S Grenfell 31 D Rogerson 4/38 D Henderson 3/63 P Hill 2/8) def City Colts 147 (R Gardner 48 E Morrish 3/23 B Johnson 3/53 B Causer 2/13) and 132 (D Sellers 45 E Morrish 4/39 B Causer 4/45) outright at Loco Oval



Round 13 - 27 February & 6 March

Cavaliers 180 (W Lummis 66 M Black 37 B Johnson 4/53 H McGregor 3/33 N Warburton 2/20) def Orange City 95 (K Buckley 5/38 M Maybin 3/12 H Britton 2/38) on first innings at Bloomfield Oval

Centennials Bulls 184 (T Horton 44 P McCleary 35 K Toole 32 B Aubin 29 J Sijo 3/21 H Le Lievre 3/51 A Dhillon 2/20) def CYMS 127 (A Smith 45 A Dhillon 31 P McCleary 3/19 M Hutchinson 3/30 Z Newham 2/19) and 9/142 (H Le Lievre 59* K Toole 5/33 P McCleary 3/33) on first innings at Bathurst Sportsground

Bathurst City 198 (J Coughlan 56 J Urza 39 J Qureshi 6/53 J Ruzgas 2/68) and **5/63(dec)** (M Tobin 30 H McIntyre 2/36) **tied with Rugby Union 127** (O Newton 29 J Qureshi 26* M Tobin 2/9 O Simpson 2/9 J Coughlan 2/44 C Moxon 2/44) and **134** (S Macpherson 56 J Qureshi 41 T Lynch 3/7 C Moxon 2/50 J Coughlan 2/61) **outright** at Morse Park 1

City Colts 134 (J Toole 44 D Henderson 26* M Webster 4/36 W Prowse 2/29 G Cumming 2/31) and 3/50 (D Rogerson 37* M Webster 2/21) def Kinross 125 (J Rasmussen 34 J Toole 3/18 W Sellers 3/39) and 57 (T Murray 5/26 D Henderson 3/28) outright at Kinross Main Oval

St Pat's Old Boys 9/195 (C Slattery 68 A Brown 27 D Kennewell 3/51 E Dodds 3/53) def Centrals 194 (R Dray 41 D Kennewell 33 M Taylor 5/52 C Slattery 2/41 J Goodsell 2/53) on first innings at Riawena Oval



FINAL POINTS TABLE

		M	wo	WI	T	D	LI	LO	Pts
1	St Pat's Old Boys	13	0	8	0	4	1	0	63
2	Orange City	13	1	7	0	2	3	0	61
3	Rugby Union	13	0	8	1	2	2	0	59
4	Cavaliers	13	0	7	0	2	4	0	50
5	Bathurst City	13	1	4	1	1	6	0	47
6	City Colts	13	1	4	0	3	4	1	44
7	Centennials Bulls	13	0	5	0	2	6	0	36
8	CYMS	13	0	5	0	0	8	0	30
9	Centrals	13	0	3	0	3	7	0	27
10	Kinross	13	0	0	0	1	10	2	3

FINALS

Semi Finals – 13 & 14 March

St Pat's Old Boys drew Orange City at Bathurst Sportsground **Rugby Union drew Cavaliers** at Morse Park 1

Preliminary Final – 20 & 21 March

Orange City 239 (B Weymouth 81 J Kay 28* B Schofield 27 J Thackray 3/41 J Qureshi 3/53 J Ruzgas 3/69) drew Rugby Union 3/118 (I Qureshi 64* J Qureshi 27* E Morrish 2/30) at Wade Park

IN THE NEWS - MARCH 12 2021

Semi-finals cancelled as rain wreaks havoc with Bathurst pitches

Riley Krause

There will be no dream run from Cavaliers. There will be no automatic grand final spot for Orange City. Instead it is St Pat's and Rugby Union who will benefit after the semi-finals in the Bathurst Orange Inter District Cricket competition were called off on Friday due to rain.

Both matches were due to be played in Bathurst over the course of the weekend, with Cavs to face Rugby at Morse Park and City travelling to the Showground for their St Pat's clash. But 24 hours before the first balls were meant to be bowled, BOIDC president Mark Frecklington confirmed the games were off.

"I haven't seen the grounds first hand, but we got a message from Bathurst with the council saying there is no hope of getting any turf pitch ready this week," he said. "I don't really need to see them, with the rain we've had it's completely understandable.

"Even the Orange grounds had covers on and they've said water has gotten in under covers, holes in covers, so they would be no good either. I think we had about 60mm overnight, so that'll do it."

For Ed Morrish and his City teammates, this means they will play Rugby in a do-or-die final at Wade Park next week, to see who will meet St Pat's in the grand final. "I thought it might be," the captain said when told the games were cancelled. "I'm actually really disappointed that they canned it, considering two games ago the same thing happened and they could've moved the game to Orange."

But for Cavs, this marks the end of the road, as the Orange club was the lowest ranked of the four heading into the weekend. Cavs captain Matt Corben said: "Super proud of my boys to make finals - I don't think we played anywhere near our best cricket at all this year.

"Our best probably being the win against City last week, it wasn't a total performance because were 5-50 batting first but I guess that shows there's still huge room for improvement and if we can beat the top of the table by 100 runs not playing our best cricket good things are on the cards for next year."

Frecklington was disappointed the decision had to be made, but said that's why they play the regular season. "It's always best for the teams to be able to play cricket and decided it that way," he said.

"It's unfortunate for them. I guess the teams that finish higher, finish higher for a reason. Throughout the year they've performed better in the season so that's a bit of a benefit of finishing higher on the table."

IN THE NEWS - MARCH 21 2021

Orange City to face St Pat's in grand final after rain-affected win

Riley Krause



Orange City will meet St Pat's in the BOIDC grand final after yet another rain-affected weekend of cricket.

After losing the toss and being sent into bat at Wade Park, Ed Morrish's men had one goal; bat, bat and bat some more. "The biggest thing for us was we wanted to bat for as long as possible to try and make it difficult to chase the runs," the City captain said.

The home side achieved that goal as they finished day 1 of the preliminary final against Rugby Union, seven down and more than 200 runs to the good. This was thanks in large part to younggun Blake Weymouth who piled on 81 before he was trapped in front off the bowling of Percy Raveneau. This was Weymouth's third 50 in three BOIDC innings against the Bulldogs this season.

"I've been his captain for pretty much his whole first grade career here at Orange City and he is just a pleasure to have," Morrish said when asked about Weymouth. "For such a young kid he is mature beyond his years. I can't speak highly enough of him."

With rain forecast on the Sunday, City came back looking to eke out as many overs as possible with the bat. A handy 30 from No. 9 Brett Causer helped City get to 239 before they were bowled out.

Coming out with the ball, the home side looked menacing behind Morrish and Harry McGregor. The pair combined for three wickets between them to leave Rugby reeling at 3-39. But this brought the Qureshi brothers - Imran (64 not out) and Jameel (27 not out) - to the crease and together they put Rugby back in a position to win the game.

"It's my job to take the new ball and take early wickets and build pressure and I'm happy to do that today," Morrish said on his opening spell. "I thought early on we bowled really well. We came back after lunch and we were a bit flat but the conditions, mixed with some good batting between Imran and Jameel set up for a good finish."

That finish did not eventuate though, as the rain forced both teams off the field with Rugby sitting at 3-118 and plenty of overs still in the shed. The rain did not subside and a few hours later the umpires were forced to abandon the game.

As City finished higher on the regular season ladder, this meant they won through to next week's grand final.

GRAND FINAL SCORECARD

St Pat's Old Boys v Orange City 27 & 28 March 2021 at Bathurst Sportsground

Result: Orange City won in first innings

Toss won by: Orange City who elected to field first Umpires: Graeme Glazebrook & Steve Warrington Player of the Match: Troy O'Keeffe (Orange City)

ST PAT'S OL	_D BOYS - 1st Innings		Bowling	0	M	R	W
B Brien	Ibw b E Morrish	7	E Morrish	12.0	1	25	2
A Brown	lbw b Morrish	2	H McGregor	16.0	3	42	3
A Ryan (c)	c b Seib	16	J Seib	7.0	1	15	1
C Slattery	c b McGregor	2	B Causer	19.0	7	38	0
C Brien	b McGregor	29	B Johnson	16.3	5	36	2
H Siegert	c b McGregor	46	S Grenfell	3.0	1	3	0
J Willcox	c & b Johnson	45	B Weymouth	5.0	1	8	0
A Parsons	c b Gordon	1	A Gordon	5.0	2	15	2
D Clayton	c Schofield b Johnson	24					
M Taylor	b Gordon	0					
J Goodsell	not out	0					
M Fearnley							
Extras	(nb 4, w 6, b 10, lb 1)	21					
Total		193					
	Overs 83.3						

FOW: 5 (A Brown) 16 (B Brien) 24 (C Slattery) 38 (A Ryan) 93 (C Brien) 148 (H Siegert) 156 (A Parsons) 186 (J Willcox) 189 (M Taylor) 193 (D Clayton)

ORANGE CIT	Y – 1st Innings		Bowling	0	M	W	R
B Schofield	c Slattery b Fearnley	31	M Taylor	17.1	3	46	1
A Gordon	b Taylor	6	J Goodsell	18.0	6	37	2
B Weymouth	b Parsons	48	M Fearnley	14.0	7	18	1
S Churchill	c Goodsell b Parsons	21	C Slattery	27.0	8	59	2
S Grenfell	b Slattery	27	A Parsons	9.3	3	21	2
E Morrish (c)	c Brown b Goodsell	14					
J Kay	c Brown b Goodsell	0					
T O'Keeffe	not out	28					
B Causer	lbw b Slattery	0					
H McGregor	not out	1					
J Seib							
B Johnson							
Extras	(nb 4, w 1, b 11, lb 3)	19					
Total		8 for 195					
	Overs 85.4						

FOW: 11 (A Gordon) 63 (B Schofield) 105 (S Churchill) 114 (B Weymouth) 157 (E Morrish) 157 (J Kay) 165 (S Grenfell) 165 (B Causer)

IN THE NEWS - MARCH 29 2021

Orange City takes out 2020-21 grand final over St Pat's Old Boys

Alexander Grant



WINNING WARRIORS: Orange City celebrates their fourth straight title after a gripping, unbeaten ninth-wicket stand. Photo: PHIL BLATCH

A grand final with a grand conclusion.

Orange City claimed a thrilling two-wicket triumph over St Pat's Old Boys in the Bathurst Orange Inter District Cricket association decider at the Sportsground last weekend, thanks to an inspirational, backs-to-the-wall ninth-wicket partnership.

The visitors edged past the Saints' 193 in the dying stages of Sunday's second day, guided by a gritty, unbeaten 28 from player-of-the-game and wicketkeeper-bat Troy O'Keeffe, who survived 119 balls to get his side home.

He and young, gun quick Harry McGregor added a match-winning 30 for the ninth wicket after Orange City lost 4-8 the middle order, with McGregor dialling in defensively to support his gloveman with an unbeaten 1 from 48 balls.

It's the fourth successive top grade premiership for Orange City when including their 2017-18 and 2018-19 titles in the Orange District Cricket Association.

"That was a gutsy win. Games like that are not so much about how good you are but how much heart you've got, and my boys showed a lot of that, but so too did Pat's," City captain Ed Morrish said.

Morrish's wicket sparked the quick collapse in City's middle order and he was left watching on nervously as his lower order managed to produce something special.

"If you watched me over there when that was happening you would have seen that I needed a new pair of shoes because I was doing a lot of pacing," he laughed.

"People doubted us because last year we were given the title due to COVID, so we wanted to go out and prove that we were that team."

Making the victory all the sweeter for Morrish was the fact his Warriors claimed the win with what most would consider an understrength side, with Dave Boundy (broken arm), Lachlan Coyte (unavailable), Jaymes Thomas (unavailable) and Ben Findlay (torn achilles) all ruled out.

Incredibly, all but Boundy had taken the gloves throughout 2020-21, with O'Keeffe at least the fourth gloveman to have played in the Warriors' top grade.

"But that was incredible. We've had a lot of ins and outs with this team due to injuries or unavailability's so for the blokes to come in and do the job is the most pleasing thing as a captain," Morrish beamed.

For Saints captain Adam Ryan it was at least a game worthy of the 'grand final' billing. "It was a ripper game. They're the grand finals you dream about being a part of. You dream about being on the other side of it but I'm so proud of the efforts from everyone - today and throughout the season," he said.

"They've all been faultless in their commitment to the club and the cause this year."

Saints were in serious danger in their innings on Saturday before Cooper Brien (29), Hamish Siegert (46) and Josh Wilcox (45) added more than 100 runs over the space of two partnerships. Derryn Clayton (24) also added valuable late runs for the Saints.

McGregor led the way with the ball for City with his 3-42.

In response, Ben Schofield (31) and top scorer Blake Weymouth (48) pushed the visitors past the 100 mark at the loss of just two wickets. Shaun Grenfell (27) continued to inject some spark into the City chase before he formed part of Orange's four-wicket collapse.

O'Keeffe and McGregor each survived a scare when they were nearly caught, and their nervous chase was prolonged further by a drinks break with 10 runs to get. But there was no need to fear as the pair etched their names into the City history books with a partnership to remember.

Three Pat's bowlers finished with two wickets, with the best of them being Angus Parsons (2-21).



Troy O'Keeffe

AWARDS

Player of the Year Russell Gardner (City Colts)

Batting Russell Gardner (City Colts)

Bowling Clinton Moxon (Bathurst City)

IN THE NEWS - MARCH 30 2021

Russ Gardner named player of the 2020-21 season

Alexander Grant



OUTSTANDING: Russ Gardner was named the BOIDC's most valuable player of the 2020-21 season on Sunday. Photo: ALEXANDER GRANT

ANYONE who had been around the Bathurst Orange Inter District Cricket competition during its previous iteration knew what Russ Gardner would be capable of in his return this season. But noone was ready for his onslaught with the bat - one that would see the City Colts player named the BOIDC player of the season for 2020-21.

Gardner finished his campaign with 665 runs, putting him well clear of nearest challenger Dave Neil (494) on the regular season leaderboard. He had an average of 73.89 from 12 innings (second highest in the competition) and a highest score of 156 not out in the round five meeting with Centrals - the highest individual score of any batsman this season.

Gardner was pleased to hold the individual trophy aloft on grand final day but he said he'd trade it to be out in the middle of the field on the last match of the season. "It's a bit of a mixed feeling. It's great to be able to come back and be proud of what you can achieve individually - and I'm proud the team's effort too - but we were just a little bit shy of the finals," he said. "But this was certainly not something I expected when coming back to play this year."

The most impressive aspect of Gardner's campaign was his consistency. When Gardner hit 80 in the round four clash with Centennials Bulls little did he know that it would begin a stunning seven-inning streak of half centuries. His average over that stretch was 121.6. The run only came to an end when he was stopped just short of making it eight in a row when he was out for 48 against Orange City.

Gardner didn't come into the season with any major expectations, only hoping to do what he could to help Colts make progress this season. "I really didn't know how I would go when I started playing so I was pleasantly surprised," he said. "I just needed to work a little bit harder and ensure that I could be out there to do the job for the team. I want to be out there enjoying the game and that's what came through during the year.

Gardner said he's keen to return in 2021-22 with City Colts. "I'll hopefully be back for more," he said. "We'll see how the body and mind goes but I love the sport and I love Bathurst cricket so it would be great to keep playing if I can."

Bathurst City's Clint Moxon finished as the season's highest wicket taker with 30 wickets, beating St Pat's Old Boys' Mitch Taylor (28), Rugby Union's Hugh McIntyre (26) and Centrals' Ed Dodds (26).



TEAM OF THE YEAR

Blake Weymouth (Orange City) - Another big season for the little left-hander. With 567 runs @ 43.62, one century and a handful of half centuries, Weymouth was the leading opener in the competition and was a major contributor to Orange City's premiership win with a couple of big innings in the finals.

Joey Coughlan (Bathurst City) - Named in this side for a second successive season, Coughlan headed his side's batting with his 440 runs @ 33.85. Whilst falling agonisingly short of that glorious ton, the right-hander managed 3 half centuries, as well as 16 wickets to be a very useful bowling option as well.

David Neil (CYMS) - Whilst it was a hard year for the young CYMS team, Neil should be satisfied that he did all that he could. The former Western Zone representative scored the second most number of runs across the preliminary rounds, with 494 @ 38 and a century to his name.

Russell Gardner (City Colts) - His record speaks for itself; topping the run tally with 665 runs @ 73.89 with a highest score of 156 not out. Gardner was consistent across the season, also making 7 half centuries and was the rock that City Colts built their season assault on. The period where he scored 50 or more in 8 consecutive Innings is a clear indicator why Gardner was a more than deserving recipient of the BOIDC's Player of the Year.

Connor Slattery (St Pat's Old Boys) - Another strong season for the batting all-rounder and one of only three players in this lineup to have also made last season's team season. Slattery's batting average of 66.29 (77 during the regular season) shows his reliability. His average of 77 would see him finish atop the BOIDC's list of averages. His 464 runs included two centuries; the only batsman to pass that mark twice. He also claimed 14 wickets to be a more than handy back up spinner in this line-up.

Matt Corben (Cavaliers) - The Cavaliers skipper didn't have a blistering season like 2019-20, but it was still a pretty good one. Corben's 404 runs for the season included a century and a couple of half centuries and came at a nice average of a tick under 45.

Blake Aubin (wk, Centennials) - This man certainly had a lot to play for this season. Often being the difference between his side posting a competitive score and not, Aubin proved he could bat well under pressure. Aubin scored 426 runs @ 42.60 including one century.

Ed Morrish (captain, Orange City) - 4 First Grade Premierships in a row isn't bad to have on your CV, with 3 of those as captain. Morrish had another good season with the ball, taking 26 wickets @ 14.77. His exploits with the ball inspired his team throughout the season with a best of 8/56 against Rugby Union. Being the man to hold the BOIDC Premiership Cup aloft in 2020-21 gives Morrish the green light to have the "C" next to his name in this team for the second consecutive season.

Clint Moxon (Bathurst City) - The man his side looked to when they needed a wicket. His 30 wickets @ 17.10 ensured his place in this line-up as he also led the wicket tally for the competition. His ability to bowl long spells was also important for his team, as shown when he bowled 25 straight against City Colts to get his side over the line.

Mitch Taylor (St Pat's Old Boys) - A big season for the lethal left-armer, being 1 of just 4 bowlers to claim 5 wickets in an innings twice. His 29 wickets @ 16.62 with that explosive pace made him an obvious choice for the team.

Ed Dodds (Centrals) - 26 wickets @ 18.92 made him the leading wicket taker of the slow bowling brigade this season. Dodds was the shining beacon in his side's bowling attack, making regular breakthroughs for his side to keep them in the hunt across most of the season.

Hugh McIntyre (Rugby Union) – A bowler that possibly no-one was talking about at the start of the season, but his numbers speak for themselves: 26 wickets @ 17.08. McIntyre also bagged a couple of 5 wicket hauls to lead the way for his team this season.

SEASON STATISTICS

Leading Run Scorers

Runs	Player	Club	M	H Score	50	100	Avg
665	Russell Gardner	City Colts	13	156 no	6	1	73.89
567	Blake Weymouth	Orange City	14	129 no	3	1	43.62
494	David Neil	CYMS	13	100 no	2	1	38.00
464	Connor Slattery	St Pat's Old Boys	12	121	2	2	66.29
440	Joseph Coughlan	Bathurst City	11	99	3	0	33.85
426	Blake Aubin	Centennials Bulls	13	123 no	1	1	42.60
411	Ryan Peacock	Rugby Union	13	100	3	1	31.62
404	Matt Corben	Cavaliers	12	123 no	2	1	44.89
401	Andrew Brown	St Pat's Old Boys	13	102	0	1	30.85
386	Lachlan Coyte	Orange City	11	90 no	3	0	38.60
380	Sam Macpherson	Rugby Union	12	89	3	0	29.23
374	Bailey Ferguson	Cavaliers	13	80	3	0	28.77
367	Thomas Belmonte	CYMS	13	79	1	0	24.47
367	Bailey Brien	St Pat's Old Boys	13	92	3	0	33.36
364	Mark Day	Bathurst City	12	83 no	2	0	30.33
328	Imran Qureshi	Rugby Union	13	69	3	0	29.82
326	Dave Sellers	City Colts	11	56	3	0	29.64
319	Cameron Laird	Cavaliers	13	65	3	0	26.58
318	Benjamin Schofield	Orange City	12	104	0	1	26.50
312	Wesley Lummis	Cavaliers	10	70	3	0	52.00

Centuries

Score	Player	Club	Rd	Inns	Opponent
156 no	Russell Gardner	City Colts	5	1	Centrals
129 no	Blake Weymouth	Orange City	8	1	Centrals
129	James Larkin	Kinross	12	1	CYMS
123 no	Matt Corben	Cavaliers	11	1	Centrals
123 no	Blake Aubin	Centennials Bulls	4	1	City Colts
121	Connor Slattery	St Pat's Old Boys	11	1	Centennials Bulls
117	Connor Slattery	St Pat's Old Boys	7	1	City Colts
104	Benjamin Schofield	Orange City	7	1	Centennials Bulls
103	Daniel Casey	City Colts	6	1	CYMS
102	Andrew Brown	St Pat's Old Boys	11	1	Centennials Bulls
100 no	David Neil	CYMS	12	1	Kinross
100	Ryan Peacock	Rugby Union	6	1	Centrals

Highest Wicket Partnerships

Wkt	P'ship	Batters	Club	Rd	Inns	Opponent
1	166	Imran Qureshi - Sam Macpherson	Rugby Union	9	1	CYMS
2	139	Rory Daburger - David Neil	CYMS	2	1	Kinross
3	221	Andrew Brown - Connor Slattery	St Pat's Old Boys	11	1	Centennials Bulls
4	130	James Larkin - George Cumming	Kinross	12	1	CYMS
5	153	Russell Gardner - Craig Berry	City Colts	5	1	Centrals
6	88	Russell Gardner - Daniel Casey	City Colts	8	1	Rugby Union
7	87	Blake Aubin - Ethan Muller	Centennials Bulls	4	1	City Colts
8	83	David Neil - Jeron Sijo	CYMS	12	1	Kinross
9	66	Tom Satterthwaite - Jack Cale	CYMS	8	1	Bathurst City
10	52	Josh Toole - David Henderson	City Colts	13	1	Kinross

Leading Wicket Takers

Wkts	Player	Club	M	Avg	SR	Econ	5wi	10wm	Best
30	Clinton Moxon	Bathurst City	12	17.10	33.77	3.04	1	0	7/25
29	Mitchell Taylor	St Pat's Old Boys	12	16.62	32.38	3.08	2	0	5/52
26	Edward Morrish	Orange City	13	14.77	26.73	3.32	1	0	8/56
26	Hugh McIntyre	Rugby Union	12	17.08	26.65	3.84	2	0	6/23
26	Edward Dodds	Centrals	9	18.92	32.85	3.46	1	0	7/72
24	Harry McGregor	Orange City	14	13.88	29.21	2.85	0	0	4/21
23	Mick Hutchinson	Centennials Bulls	13	13.04	23.61	3.31	1	0	5/56
23	Kyle Buckley	Cavaliers	13	19.70	28.26	4.18	1	0	5/38
22	Jack Goodsell	St Pat's Old Boys	12	14.73	34.36	2.57	1	0	5/27
22	Zac Reimer	Centrals	12	17.68	33.68	3.15	0	0	4/13
22	Mac Webster	Kinross	12	18.68	29.14	3.85	0	0	4/36
22	Hugh Le Lievre	CYMS	13	21.86	47.77	2.75	1	0	5/26
21	Jeremy Thackray	Rugby Union	11	16.38	42.52	2.31	2	0	6/61
21	George Cumming	Kinross	13	24.48	39.81	3.69	0	0	4/31
21	David Henderson	City Colts	13	25.76	57.29	2.70	0	0	4/57
20	Hugh Britton	Cavaliers	12	20.15	35.25	3.43	2	0	6/33
20	Jonah Ruzgas	Rugby Union	11	27.45	57.20	2.88	0	0	4/43
18	Jameel Qureshi	Rugby Union	12	15.22	35.06	2.61	1	0	6/53
18	Mitchell Black	Cavaliers	11	18.28	33.78	3.25	2	0	6/45
18	Nelson Shepherd	Kinross	12	23.72	29.39	4.84	1	0	6/44

5 wickets in an innings

Player	Club	0	М	R	W	Rd	Inns	Opponent
Charlie Greer	Cavaliers	14.2	6	17	8	6	1	Kinross
Edward Morrish	Orange City	21.4	4	56	8	4	1	Rugby Union
Clinton Moxon	Bathurst City	13.1	1	25	7	7	1	Kinross
Edward Dodds	Centrals	24.2	3	72	7	7	1	CYMS
Matthew Fearnley	St Pat's Old Boys	12.4	6	9	6	5	1	Kinross
Jarrod Urza	Bathurst City	12	4	20	6	7	2	Kinross
Hugh McIntyre	Rugby Union	8	1	23	6	1	1	Kinross
Hugh Britton	Cavaliers	8	1	33	6	2	1	Centennials Bulls
Ben Orme	Bathurst City	22	5	44	6	12	2	Centrals
Nelson Shepherd	Kinross	13	2	44	6	4	1	Centrals
Mitchell Black	Cavaliers	15.1	4	45	6	12	1	Centennials Bulls
Jameel Qureshi	Rugby Union	24.2	6	53	6	13	1	Bathurst City
Jeremy Thackray	Rugby Union	23.5	6	61	6	7	1	Cavaliers
Mitchell Black	Cavaliers	32.5	13	125	6	7	1	Rugby Union
Hugh McIntyre	Rugby Union	8.4	4	10	5	11	1	Kinross
Daniel Casey	City Colts	6.1	0	21	5	1	1	Bathurst City
Hugh Britton	Cavaliers	7.4	0	25	5	1	1	Centrals
Hugh Le Lievre	CYMS	14.1	4	26	5	11	1	Orange City
Thomas Murray	City Colts	8	1	26	5	13	2	Kinross
Jack Goodsell	St Pat's Old Boys	16	8	27	5	4	1	CYMS
Jeremy Thackray	Rugby Union	22	10	33	5	12	1	St Pat's Old Boys
Kurt Toole	Centennials Bulls	16	6	33	5	13	2	CYMS
Kyle Buckley	Cavaliers	11	2	38	5	13	1	Orange City
Shaun Grenfell	Orange City	8	0	43	5	2	1	City Colts
Mitchell Taylor	St Pat's Old Boys	21.2	6	52	5	13	1	Centrals
Mick Hutchinson	Centennials Bulls	15.3	2	56	5	12	1	Cavaliers
Wayne Sellers	City Colts	20	2	68	5	7	1	St Pat's Old Boys
David Rogerson	City Colts	28.1	8	79	5	11	1	Bathurst City
Mitchell Taylor	St Pat's Old Boys	17	1	83	5	12	1	Rugby Union

Wicketkeeper Dismissals

Dism	Player	Club	M	Ct	St
17	John Rudge	Bathurst City	11	16	1
17	Andrew Brown	St Pat's Old Boys	13	16	1
16	Blake Aubin	Centennials Bulls	13	14	2
13	Matt Corben	Cavaliers	12	12	1
12	Kurt Gander	Centrals	12	10	2

Catches (non wk)

Ct	Player	Club
9	Hugh Le Lievre	CYMS
9	George Cumming	Kinross
7	Jameel Qureshi	Rugby Union
7	Zac Reimer	Centrals
7	Mac Webster	Kinross
7	Tom West	CYMS
7	Ben Cant	St Pat's Old Boys
6	Connor Slattery	St Pat's Old Boys
6	Josh Toole	City Colts
6	Jack Goodsell	St Pat's Old Boys
6	Jeremy Thackray	Rugby Union
6	Dave Sellers	City Colts
6	Mark Day	Bathurst City
6	Ryan Peacock	Rugby Union
5	Brad Glasson	Rugby Union
5	Kurt Toole	Centennials Bulls
5	Russell Gardner	City Colts
5	Brett Causer	Orange City
5	Benjamin Schofield	Orange City
5	Hugh Parsons	St Pat's Old Boys
5	Hamish Siegert	St Pat's Old Boys
5	Joseph Coughlan	Bathurst City
5	Sam Macpherson	Rugby Union
5	Daniel Casey	City Colts

BOIDC PREMIERSHIP WINNERS

Season	Premiers	Runners Up
1992-93	Orange City	O.R.C.
1993-94	Centennials	Cavaliers
1994-95	Centennials	St Pat's
1995-96	St Pat's	O.R.C.
1996-97	O.R.C.	Orange City
1997-98	O.R.C.	Orange City
1998-99	Orange City	Cavaliers
1999-00	O.R.C.	Cavaliers
2000-01	Cavaliers	O.R.C.
2001-02	Centennials	O.R.C.
2002-03	Cavaliers	O.R.C.
2003-04	Cavaliers	Orange City
2004-05	Cavaliers	C.Y.M.S.
2005-06	Cavaliers	Bathurst City
2006-07	Cavaliers	C.Y.M.S.
2019-20	Orange City	Cavaliers
2020-21	Orange City	St Pat's Old Boys

Premiership Titles

- 6 Cavaliers
- 4 Orange City
- 3 Centennials
- 3 O.R.C.
- 1 St Pats

